C-8806P

RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jan 12, 2016, 4:36 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 33140-7-III

Supreme Court No. _____

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SPOKANE VALLEY,

Respondent,

VS.

BRIAN DIRKS, CHRISTINE DIRKS, MARESSA DIRKS AND CA-WA CORP, a California Corporation doing business as HOLLY WOOD EROTIQUE BOUTIQUE,

Appellants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Judgment in the Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 12-2-01887-6 Honorable Annette Plese, Presiding

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners are the Appellants below, Brian Dirks, Christine Dirks, Maressa Dirks, and CA-WA CORP d/b/a/ HOLLYWOOD EROTIC BOUTIQUE.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek Supreme Court review of the unpublished decision of the Washington Court of Appeals, Division III, in Cause No. 33140-7-III. The Court of Appeals decision was filed on October 22, 2015. On December 15, 2015, the Court of Appeals filed orders denying Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Publish the Court of Appeals decision.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The first issue presented for review is whether the Court of Appeals erred in determining that CA-WA's business is not a lawful non-conforming use under the Spokane Valley Zoning Code.

The second issue for review is whether the Court of Appeals erred in determining that the applicable sections of the Spokane Valley

Licensing Code do not constitute an impermissible prior restraint and/or an invalid time, place and manner restriction in violation of the First

Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution.

The third issue presented for review is whether the Court of Appeals erred in upholding summary judgment in favor of the City on the question of whether the City's adult entertainment zoning restrictions fail to provide reasonable alternative avenues of communication in violation of the First Amendment and Article 1, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Statement of Procedure</u>

Respondent City of Spokane Valley, (hereinafter "Plaintiff" or the "City"), filed a complaint for declaration of public nuisance and warrant of abatement, alleging that Petitioners, (hereinafter "Defendants") were operating their business in violation of the City's zoning and licensing ordinances. CP 1-8. Defendants answered the complaint and filed counterclaims alleging that their business was a lawful non-conforming use and that the City's ordinances violated Article 1 Section 5 and the First Amendment. CP 15-17, 18-33, 838-843.

The City filed a motion for declaration of public nuisance and request for a warrant of abatement. CP 644-672. In the motion, the City alleged that Defendants were operating their business without a license as required by Chapter 5.10 of the Spokane Valley Municipal Code,

¹ The abbreviation "CP" refers to the Clerk's Papers.

(hereinafter "SVMC"). <u>Id</u>. Defendants opposed the motion and filed a cross motion for summary judgment. CP 648-672. In their cross motion, Defendants argued that Chapter 5.10 amounted to an absolute ban on adult movie theaters and was therefore unconstitutional under the First and Amendment and Article 1, Section 5. <u>Id</u>. Following argument, the Trial Court granted the City's motion and denied the Defendants' cross motion. CP 3902-3911. The Trial Court withheld action on the warrant of abatement pending a decision on the constitutionality of the adult entertainment-zoning ordinance, SVMC Chapter 19.80.

The City then filed a motion for summary judgment seeking a determination that the zoning restrictions in Chapter 19.80 are valid under the First Amendment and Article 1, Section 5. CP 4139-4153.

Defendants opposed the Motion arguing that there were genuine issues of material fact that precluded summary judgment. CP 4154-4181. The Trial Court granted the City's motion and issued a warrant of abatement. CP 4481-4485.

Defendants filed a timely notice of appeal to the Washington

Supreme Court, seeking direct review. CP 4486-4462. The Supreme

Court remanded the case to the Washington Court of Appeals, Division

III. On October 22, 2015, the Court Appeals filed an unpublished opinion

upholding the decision of the Superior Court.² Defendants filed timely motions for reconsideration and to publish the Court of Appeals Decision. Both motions were denied on December 15, 2015.³

B. Statement of Facts

Defendant CA-WA CORP, (hereinafter "CA-WA"), operates a business in Spokane Valley at 9611 East Sprague under the business name, Hollywood Erotic Boutique, (hereinafter "HEB"). CP 673, 674. The business was formerly operated by World Wide Video of Washington, Inc. Id. World Wide dissolved in 2006 and CA-WA took over the business. Id. The business name remains the same and the format is unchanged. Id. CA-WA leases the premises from the Dirks family, who own the property. Id. at 674.

HEB is located in a two-story building. CP 674. On the ground floor, the business has a retailing component in which it sells DVD's, books, magazines and novelties of a sexually explicit nature. <u>Id.</u> The business also has mini theaters on the second floor, which feature sexually explicit movies. <u>Id.</u> The mini theaters are contained in separate rooms situated along a common aisle. <u>Id.</u> Each room accommodates up to ten patrons and contains chairs and a screen. <u>Id.</u> The screen in each room is

² A true and correct copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached hereto as Appendix A

³ True and correct copies of the order denying reconsideration and the order denying publication are attached hereto as Appendices B and C.

connected by a cable to a DVD player. <u>Id</u>. The DVD players are located downstairs in the main room where a clerk operates them. <u>Id</u>. Patrons enter the mini theaters by purchasing a ticket for \$12.00. <u>Id</u>. The ticket price entitles a patron to view full-length movies shown in the mini theaters. CP 675.

HEB began operating at 9611 East Sprague in 1999. CP 675. The mini theaters were installed in 2002. <u>Id</u>. The mini theaters are distinguishable from businesses commonly known as peep shows. <u>Id</u>. Peep shows are movie booths intended to accommodate one patron at a time. <u>Id</u>. Each booth typically contains a screen and a device, which enables the viewer to view short segments of a sexually explicit movie by inserting a token or a coin into the device. <u>Id</u>. HEB is the only business in the City, which has both a retail component and mini theaters. Id.

Spokane Valley was incorporated on March 21, 2003. CP 689.

Prior to that time, HEB was located in unincorporated Spokane County.

CP 25. Under the Spokane County Code, businesses defined as "adult entertainment establishments" were permitted to locate only in certain zones within the County, subject to set back requirements from certain specified zones and uses. CP 25, 183-185. The Spokane County Zoning

Code defined an "adult entertainment establishment" as "an establishment defined pursuant to Chapter 7.80 of the Spokane County Code. CP 146.4

At the time of its incorporation in 2003, Spokane Valley adopted Chapter 7.80 of the County's Business License Code. CP 234, 235. The City also adopted the County's Zoning Ordinances, including a five-year amortization provision for "adult retail use establishments". CP 231, 695, 738. In September 2003, the Spokane Valley Council amended its zoning code to eliminate the five-year amortization provision for "adult retail use establishments". CP 702-704. The City never adopted an amortization provision for "adult entertainment establishments". Id. Under the Spokane Valley Code, "adult retail use establishments" and "adult entertainment establishments" which were originally lawful but later became non-conforming were treated the same as other non-conforming uses. Id. Under SVMC Section 19.20.060(B)(1), non conforming uses are permitted to continue indefinitely unless discontinued or abandoned for a period of twelve consecutive months.

In 2007, Spokane Valley adopted SVMC Chapter 19.80. CP 704, 705, 759-768.⁵ Chapter 19.80 was intended to replace the provisions of

⁴ The definitions applicable to "adult entertainment establishments" are contained in Chapter 7.80.040 of the Spokane County Code and are set forth in Appendix D

⁵ SVMC Chapter 19.80 and Appendix A to the Spokane Valley Zoning Code are attached to this brief as Appendices E and F. Appendix A contains the definitions applicable to "adult entertainment establishments".

the previous adult entertainment zoning ordinance that had been adopted from the County. <u>Id.</u> Under Chapter 19.80, "adult entertainment uses" are only permitted to locate in the Community Commercial and Regional Commercial zones. SVMC 19.80.030(A). They must be set back one thousand feet from the nearest property lines of certain specified uses, including public libraries, public playgrounds and parks, public or private schools, nursery schools, day care centers, churches, convents, monasteries, synagogues, and other adult uses. SVMC 19.80.030(B).

In 2010, the City adopted Ordinance 10-006, which replaced the previous Chapter 5.10 of the licensing code, dealing with the licensing and regulation of "adult entertainment establishments". CP 862.6 The legislative record preceding the adoption of Ordinance 10-006 consisted of: (1) Secondary effects studies conducted by other municipalities; (2) Reported court decisions from the State of Washington dealing with the constitutionality of local ordinances governing peep shows and live entertainment establishments; (3) Police reports from other municipalities dealing with sexual conduct that commonly takes place in peep shows; (4) Police reports of sexual conduct occurring in the mini theatres at 9611 E. Sprague. CP 3143-3859.

⁶ SVMC Chapter 5.10 is attached to this brief as Appendix G.

As amended by Ordinance 10-006, SVMC § 5.10.020 provides that no person may operate an "adult entertainment establishment" without obtaining a license. SVMC § 5.10.040(A)(9) provides, "No adult entertainment license may be issued to operate an adult entertainment establishment in a location which does not meet the requirements set forth in Chapter 19.80 unless otherwise exempt." SVMC § 5.10.160 provides violations of provisions of Chapter 5.10, such as failure to obtain a license, constitutes a misdemeanor and each day's violation constitutes a separate offense.

SVMC § 5.10.080(C)(6) provides:

No adult arcade station may be occupied by more than one person at any time. Any chair or other seating surface within an adult arcade station shall not provide a seating surface of greater than 18 inches in length or width. Only one such chair or other seating surface shall be placed in any adult arcade station. No person may stand or kneel on any such chair or seating surface.

SVMC § 5.10.080(D)(3) provides in part:

All arcade stations must open to the public room so that the area inside is fully and completely visible to the manager. No curtain, door, wall, merchandise, display rack, or other enclosure, material, or application may obscure in any way the manager's view of any portion of the activity or occupants of the adult entrainment establishment.

The City began its efforts to close down HEB's mini theatres in 2007, claiming that it was operating an "adult entertainment establishment" without a license and it was operating in the wrong zone. CP 814-822.⁷ HEB's representative responded to the City's notices by pointing out that the business did not constitute an "adult entertainment establishment' as that phrase was defined in the SVMC because the movies were not being shown "in a booth". CP 823-831. The parties never reached an agreement and the present lawsuit followed. CP 1-8.

V. ARGUMENT FOR ACCEPTANCE OF DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

A. The City's Licensing Code Imposes an Absolute Ban on Adult Movie Theaters

HEB argued in the Superior Court that its business was not subject to Chapter 5.10 because the ordinance applied only to peep shows, meaning single occupancy movie booths. The Superior Court disagreed with this construction in essence holding that Chapter 5.10 applies to any enclosure containing a screen that permits the viewing of a sexually explicit movie. CP 3908. In the alternative, HEB argued that the regulation amounts to an absolute ban on multiple occupancy adult movie theaters because no theater can operate if it can accommodate only a

⁷ The City's abatement order only pertains to the mini theaters. The City takes the position that the retail portion of HEB's business is a lawful non-conforming use. CP 703.

single patron at one time or contain only a single chair. See SVMC 5.10.080, subsection (C)(6). Likewise, it argued that no theater can operate if the viewing area or auditorium must be open to the public room so that it is "completely visible to the manger". See SVMC 5.10.080, subsection (D)(3). Thus, the regulation amounts to an impermissible prior restraint or an invalid time, place and manner restriction. The Court of Appeals agreed with the HEB's reading of the ordinance. The Court nevertheless held that the ban was permissible under the First Amendment and Article 1 Section 5, because it was justified by the need to deter sexual conduct and because those who wish to view adult movies on premises may still do so in single occupancy viewing booths. Id.

The Court of Appeals analyzed the constitutionality Chapter 5.10 under the rule announced in *City of Renton v. Playtime Theatres, Inc.*, 475 U.S. 41, 106 S. Ct. 925 (1986). Under *Renton*, so called time place and manner regulations are constitutional if: (1) **they do not ban adult theaters altogether**; (2) they are content-neutral and not enacted for the purpose of restraining speech; (3) they are narrowly tailored to further a substantial governmental interest; (4) they provide reasonable alternative avenues of communication. Id. at 49-55, 930-934.

⁸ "We agree with CA-WA that SVMC 5.10.080(C)(6)'s limitation of one person per theater could theoretically prevent auditorium adult theaters from operating in Spokane Valley". Order Denying Reconsideration at p. 2.

In Ino Ino v. City of Bellevue, Inc., 132 Wn. 2d 103, 127, 937 P. 2d 154 (1997), this Court evaluated the constitutionality of a nude dancing licensing ordinance similar to Chapter 5.10 under the test set forth in United States v. O'Brien, 391 U.S. 367, 88 S.Ct.1673 (1968). A regulation is constitutional under the O'Brien test if: (1) the regulation is within the constitutional power of government; (2) the regulation furthers an important or substantial governmental interest; (3) the governmental interest is unrelated to the suppression of free expression; and (4) the incidental restrictions on alleged First Amendment freedoms is no greater than essential to the furtherance of that interest. Id. 9 The Court held that Article 1, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution provides enhanced protection for live nude entertainment in the case of prior restraints but that so-called time, place and manner regulations not involving "pure speech in a traditional public forum" are evaluated under federal standards. <u>Id</u>. at 121, 166. The Court declined to characterize the distance restriction in the Bellevue licensing ordinance as a prior restraint, rather than a time, place and manner regulation, because it did not effectively ban the speech. Id. at 125, 168.

⁹ The Ninth Circuit has stated that there is no substantive difference between the *O'Brien* and *Renton* tests and a given result under one necessarily dictates an identical outcome under the other. *Clark v. City of Lakewood*, 259 F. 3d 996, 1005, n. 3 (9th Cir. 2000).

Spokane Valley's regulation is unconstitutional both under the Renton test and under Article 1, Section 5 because it bans adult movie theaters altogether. The Court of Appeals suggestion that a city can completely ban a particular form of expression so long as something similar is available is a radical departure from established jurisprudence. It would be like saying that members of the public cannot go to movie theaters because they can watch the same thing on television or cannot attend live entertainment venues because they can watch movies that depict the same sort of entertainment. Justice Kennedy in his concurring opinion in City of Los Angeles v. Alameda Books, 535 U.S. 425, 445, 122 S.Ct. 1728, 1739-1740 (2002) held that under the *Renton* test "a city may not regulate the secondary effects by suppressing the speech itself."¹⁰ That is precisely what happened in this case. The Court of Appeals decision is both obvious error and a grave danger to the exercise of free speech rights.

B. This Court Should Grant Discretionary Review Because This Case
Involves Significant Issues of Adult Entertainment Zoning Law
that Have Never Previously Been Considered by a Washington
Court

In support of its motion for summary judgment, the City presented evidence that the Community Commercial and Regional Commercial

¹⁰ Because *Alameda Books* was a plurality decision, Justice Kennedy's concurrence is considered to be the controlling opinion in the case. <u>See Center for Fair Public Policy v. Maricopa County</u>, 336 F. 3d 1153, 1160 (9th Cir. 2005).

Districts together comprise 5% of the City's land. CP 4082. It presented evidence that there are currently 4 adult businesses operating in the City including two adult retail establishments, the retail portion of HEB'S business and a nightclub that features nude dancing. Id. All of these businesses were lawfully in existence at the time that City adopted Chapter 19.80 and are currently operating as lawful non-conforming uses. Id.

In support of its motion, the City presented the report of Real Estate Appraiser Bruce Jolicoeur. CP 4042-4078. Mr. Jolicouer conducted a survey all of parcels in Spokane Valley that are legally zoned for "adult entertainment establishments" and "adult retail use establishments". He concluded that that there are currently 45 sites available for adult oriented uses within the city. CP 4044. He opined that, "These 45 sites could accommodate a minimum of 4 and as many as 5 simultaneously located adult-oriented businesses." <u>Id</u>.

In opposing the City's Motion, Defendants' presented the report of Land Use Planners Lee Michaelis and Robert Thorpe. CP4182-4221.

They concluded that there are three areas in the City where adult entertainment uses could potentially be located. CP 4191-5197. They consist of a small industrial park, (Area 1), the Spokane Valley Mall, (Area 2), and a commercial strip at the west end of Sprague Avenue.

(Area 3). <u>Id</u>. There are a maximum of 39 properties that meet zoning code requirements within these areas and a maximum of 4 adult uses that can exist simultaneously, given the 1000 foot set back requirement from other adult uses. <u>Id</u>. They pointed out that a majority of the properties in these areas are occupied by existing uses and businesses. CP 4205-4213. Five of the properties are occupied by the Union Pacific Railroad and one is occupied by the Spokane Transit Authority. <u>Id</u>. Additional occupied properties include La Quinta Inn, McDonalds, I-Hop, Wendy's, Nordstrom Rack, Oxford Suites, Walmart, Costco, Home Depot and Big 5 Sporting Goods. <u>Id</u>. **In total, 1.2% of the City's land is available to adult entertainment establishments**. CP 4220.

Estate Broker, Rich Crisler. CP 4317-4323. Mr. Crisler has worked as a commercial real estate broker since 1978 and is familiar with the local market. Id. He was asked to determine which of the properties listed as "viable parcels" in the Jolicouer report are available for rent or sale to an adult entertainment business at present or in the reasonably foreseeable future. Id. Mr. Crisler determined that several of the "viable parcels" were occupied by a single business and in all there were thirty three properties. Id. Four of the thirty-three were vacant land and existing businesses occupy the remaining properties. Id. The existing businesses

included established franchises and big box retailers such as Home Depot, Lowes, and Costco. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Crisler opined that 15 of Jolicoeur's "viable parcels" are occupied by well-established businesses and were unlikely to become available anytime in the reasonably near future. <u>Id</u>.¹¹

In general, adult entertainment zoning ordinances are time, place and manner restrictions governed by the *Renton* test. Under this test, a valid regulation must be content neutral, narrowly tailored to further a substantial governmental interest, and leave open alternative avenues of communication. 475 U.S. at 929, 930. Although applicable to only a specific category of speech, regulations of this type are content neutral if they aim to eradicate undesirable secondary effects associated with the speech. Id. The Supreme Court held that municipalities provide adequate alternative avenues of communication so long as they do not deprive adult theaters of a "reasonable opportunity to open and operate an adult theater within the city". 475 U.S. at 54, 106 S. Ct. at 932. However, the Court did not specify what constitutes a "reasonable opportunity to open and operate", leaving that task to the lower courts.

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