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

Dirks, Christine Dirks, Maressa Dirks, and CA-WA Corp, No. 33140-7-III 

(October 22, 2015). 

IV. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

The City restates CA WA's issues for review as follows: 

1. The Court of Appeals found that CAW A's business is not a 

lawful nonconforming use. The petition for review does not contain any 

argument explaining why this conclusion is in error. 

In the absence of supporting argument, CAW A has abandoned this 

claim. The Court need not consider the matter further. Detention of A.S., 

13 8 Wn.2d 898, 922 n. 10, 982 P .2d 1156 ( 1999). 

2. Regulations that govern the time, place, and manner of adult 

entertainment business operations, including the configuration of viewing 

areas, are content neutral, are not prior restraints, and are not subject to 

strict scrutiny. City of Renton v. Playtime Theatres, Inc., 475 U.S. 41, 50 

(1986) (valid if supported by substantial government interest); Adult Ent. 

Ctr. v. Pierce County, 57 Wn. App. 435,438-39,788 P.2d 1102 (1990), 

review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1006 ( 1990) (regulations pertaining to 

arrangement of viewing areas involve no subject matter restraint). 

Where a certain type of adult entertainment business may not be 

commercially viable because of time, place, and manner regulations, and 
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where there is no issue of pure speech in a traditional public forum, was it 

error for the Court of Appeals to follow existing Washington and federal 

precedent to find the absence of a prior restraint? 

3. Washington's constitution does not provide greater 

protection for adult entertainment businesses than the federal constitution 

under Renton. Ina Ina, Inc. v. City of Bellevue, 132 Wn.2d 103, 122,937 

P .2d 154 ( 1997). The Court of Appeals followed settled federal precedent 

to determine whether there were reasonable alternative avenues of 

communication in the City under Renton's intermediate scrutiny standard. 

Topanga Press, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles, 989 F.2d 1524, 1531 (9th Cir. 

1993), cert. denied, 511 U.S. 1030 (1994). 

Should this Court now create a new standard for the "alternative 

avenues of communication" prong of Renton's intermediate scrutiny test? 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Court of Appeals decision provides a recitation of the facts, 

which the City hereby incorporates by reference. Decision at 1-6. Because 

CAW A abandons its claim regarding whether or not it is a lawful 

nonconforming use under earlier municipal codes, it is unnecessary to 

describe the series of enactments of Spokane County and, upon 

incorporation, the City. CAW A has never disputed the factual 
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characteristics of its business operations. CAW A has never disputed that its 

operations began only after the adoption of Spokane County's ordinances. 

CAW A has never disputed that it lacked both zoning authorization 

and adult entertainment licensing authorization (first from Spokane County 

and, later, the City). 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. The petition for review ignores the requirements of RAP 13.4(b ). 

CAW A's petition fails to identify any subsection of RAP 13 .4(b) to 

which its arguments respond. Merely invoking constitutional arguments is 

not the equivalent of identifying a specific "significant question of law 

under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States" 

that merits further review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

As an unpublished decision relating to one aspect of the operations 

of CA WA's idiosyncratic business, under the particular local codes of one 

municipality, the decision is not of substantial public interest. Both the trial 

court and the Court of Appeals fully considered CAW A's arguments. 

There is no fundamental issue of statewide jurisprudence in this matter that 

warrants an additional determination by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

B. The decision is consistent with longstanding federal precedent 
on the "reasonable alternative avenues of communication" 
prong of intermediate scrutiny. 
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CA WA states that "[t]his Court is free to adopt its own reasonable 

interpretation of Renton and Alameda Books and is not obligated to follow 

in lock step with the lower federal courts." Petition at 18. 

Below, CA WA conceded that federal precedents were "satisfied so 

long as it is theoretically possible for an adult entertainment business to find 

a location in the City." Br. at 68. Now, CA WA urges this Court to adopt a 

new rule. CAW A does not articulate how this settled area of law should be 

modified nor why such a step is needed, except to change the result in this 

case. CAW A's petition is silent on these details, but these are the details 

that must be explained to justify this Court's review. 

CA WA's argument is nothing more than an invitation for this Court 

to guess at a new standard. The federal courts have reviewed this subject in 

many prior cases. CAW A does not differentiate its inchoate new standard 

from existing caselaw. 

1. CA WA advances no argument on what, if any, different 
analysis on intermediate scrutiny should be performed. 

CAW A's argument suggests that the law on reasonable alternative 

avenues of communication is somehow unsettled. CAW A gives no 

explanation, though, for how or why this Court should break from federal 

appellate cases on which the United States Supreme Court has consistently 

denied certiorari. See, e.g., Fantasyland Video, Inc. v. County of San Diego, 

373 F. Supp. 2d 1094, 1132-1143 (C.D. Cal. 2005), rev 'don other grounds 
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sub nom. Tallis, Inc. v. County of San Diego, 505 F.3d 935 (2007), cert. 

denied, 553 U.S. 1066 (2008) (summary judgment affirmed on adequacy of 

relocation sites); Diamondv. City ofTaji, 215 F.3d 1052, 1056 (91
h Cir. 

2000), cert denied, 531 U.S. 1072 (2001) (no constitutionally defined 

requisite number of relocation sites); Topanga Press, 989 F.2d at 1531, cert. 

denied, 511 U.S. 1 03 0 ( 1994) (all relocation sites that could ever become 

available to "any commercial enterprise" are appropriate for consideration). 

As pointedly expressed in one case, the federal courts have held 

"time and again" that actual commercial viability of relocation sites is 

irrelevant. Woodall v. City ~[El Paso, 49 F.3d 1120, 1124 (51
h Cir. 1995), 

cert. denied, 516 U.S. 988 (1995). This line of authority has continued 

without disruption to the very recent cases of Lund v. City of Fall River, 714 

F.3d 65 (1st Cir. 2013), and McKibben v. Snohomish County, 72 F. Supp. 3d 

1190 (W.D. Wash. 2014). 

2. The Washington Constitution does not require any 
different analysis on intermediate scrutiny. 

In order to show the presence of a significant question of law under 

the Washington or federal constitutions, CA WA must demonstrate that 

some aspect of this topic is, in the first place, open to question. RAP 

13 .4(b )(3). As shown above, this is not true under federal precedent. 

Lacking in CAW A's petition is any explanation of why the 

Washington Constitution requires any different test. Washington has 
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consistently affirmed Renton, which is the origin of the federal alternative 

avenues inquiry. Renton, 475 U.S. at 47; !no !no, 132 Wn.2d at 118 (citing 

Renton on intermediate scrutiny); see also World Wide Video, Inc. v. City of 

Tukwila, 117 Wn.2d 382, 388, 816 P.2d 18 (1991) (citing Renton on 

alternative avenues of communication). 

CAW A can hardly claim that there is a significant question as to 

whether the Washington Constitution's heightened protection of free speech 

has any applicability in the context of adult entertainment business 

regulations. The Gunwall analysis conducted in World Wide Video of 

Washington, 125 Wn. App. at 303-305, review denied, 155 Wn.2d 1014 

(2005), is dispositive. In World Wide Video of Washington, the court drew 

heavily from !no !no, which, as noted above, is a faithful implementation of 

Renton. World Wide Video ofWashington, 155 Wn. App. at 301-304 

(citing !no !no, 132 Wn.2d at 114-115, for proposition that Washington 

follows federal standard for sexually oriented business regulations). 

While it is true that the issue in World Wide Video of Washington 

related to retail sales of sexually explicit materials, CA WA's viewing rooms 

are no more a traditional public forum than an adult bookstore. In any 

event, adult entertainment does not require a different result. "In the 

context of adult entertainment, however, the court has declined to afford the 

full protection of art. 1, § 5, observing that nude dancing "'clings to the 
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edge of protected expression."' Ina Ina, 132 Wn.2d at 117 (quoting JJR, 

Inc. v. City ofSeattle, 126 Wn.2d 1, 9, 891 P.2d 720 (1995)). 

CAW A cannot seriously claim that adult entertainment businesses 

have traditionally been held in trust for the use of the public because of their 

historic role as sites for discussion and debate. See McCullen v. Coakley, 

134 S.Ct. 2518, 2529 (2014). 

CAW A cannot apparently identify a specific significant question of 

law on this issue. Prior federal decisions under the United States 

Constitution, which have been followed by the Washington courts in 

applying the Washington Constitution, have closely examined the issue of 

reasonable alternative avenues of communication. There is no reason to 

grant review. 

C. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the City's adult 
entertainment licensing regulations impose time, place, and 
manner restrictions, which are not a prior restraint. 

CA WA has never disputed that the City's licensing regulations are 

content neutral. The Court of Appeals found that the "City engaged in a 

careful review" of materials documenting the existence of adverse 

secondary effects of adult businesses. Decision at 11. CAW A conceded 

that the legislative record extended to "secondary effects attributable to 

adult theaters." I d. at 19. CA WA had no evidence "to cast doubt on the 

City's rationale for the regulations." Id. at 12. 
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The Court of Appeals followed familiar precedent in holding that 

time, place, and manner restrictions "on adult entertainment are not prior 

restraints and do not merit the more rigorous analysis afforded under the 

Washington Constitution for pure speech in a traditional public forum." 

Decision at 18 (citing Ina Ina, 132 Wn.2d at 121). 

In Renton, the Supreme Court began by noting that the challenged 

zoning ordinance was designed to generally protect and preserve the quality 

of urban life, "not to suppress the expression of unpopular views." Renton, 

475 U.S. at 48. The Court deemed the restriction "content neutral." Id. at 

49. Content neutral regulations are subject to intermediate scrutiny. Id. 

And, as shown above, the only part of intermediate scrutiny analysis that 

CAW A challenges is its discredited attack on the alternative avenues of 

communication prong. CAW A fails to show how its prior restraint 

argument raises a significant question oflaw for this Court's review. 

1. The federal courts have integrated Justice Kennedy's 
concurrence in Alameda Books within the same 
jurisprudence that existed prior to his concurrence and 
which was correctly applied by the Court of Appeals. 

CAW A implies the existence of an offshoot branch of first 

amendment law that extends the concept of prior restraints to any 

impairment, rather than the banning, of certain types of speech. Petition at 

9-11. In support of this theory, CAW A refers to the concurring opinion of 
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Justice Kennedy in City of Los Angeles v. Alameda Books, 535 U.S. 425, 

445 (2002). Petition at 12. 

CAW A exaggerates the salience of Justice Kennedy's concurrence. 

CAW A implies that the concurrence supports a viable mode of analysis 

within prior restraint law. Later decisions have repudiated this idea. In this 

way, CA WA invites this Court to adopt a doctrine that may seem alluring to 

adult entertainment advocates but that is not otherwise open to serious 

debate. CAW A takes liberties with this Court by not explaining the 

subsequent history of Justice Kennedy's remarks. 

In his concurrence in Alameda Books, Justice Kennedy wrote that 

"the central holding of Renton is sound: a zoning restriction that is 

designed to decrease secondary effects and not speech should be subject to 

intermediate rather than strict scrutiny." Alameda Books, 535 U.S. at 448. 

Justice Kennedy held this view because the "zoning context provides a 

built-in legitimate rationale, which rebuts the usual presumption that 

content-based restrictions are unconstitutional." Id. at 449. 

CAWA creates a straw argument out of Justice Kennedy's 

concurrence by claiming that the City's licensing code, which imposes 

configuration requirements on adult entertainment viewing areas, amounts 

to a prior restraint because it reduces the economic viability of certain kinds 

of adult entertainment establishments. Petition at 12. It is true that the 
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City's licensing code requires adult arcade stations to be limited to one 

occupant and open to view by management. SVMC §§ 5.1 0.080(C)(6) and 

(D)(3). And, to this extent, adult entertainment businesses that wish to 

locate in the City contrary to these requirements would be prohibited. But 

to claim, as CA WA does, that Justice Kennedy's concurrence therefore 

makes a prior restraint out of viewing room configuration requirements is 

misleading and wrong. Petition at 12. 

To the contrary, the Alameda Books plurality explained that it 

considered Justice Kennedy's remarks as "simply a reformulation of the 

requirement that an ordinance ordinarily warrants intermediate scrutiny 

only if it is a time, place, and manner regulation and not a ban." Alameda 

Books, 535 U.S. at 443. Subsequent cases have confirmed that Justice 

Kennedy's concurrence relates to the evidentiary burden to show that the 

"primary motivation" behind the regulation was concerned with secondary 

effects of adult entertainment businesses, and not the speech value of the 

communication itself. See, e.g., Tallis, Inc. v. County of San Diego, 505 

F.3d 935, 940 (9111 Cir. 2007), cert. denied, 553 U.S. 1066 (2008) (Justice 

Kennedy's concurrence relates to predominate concern of regulation and 

did not require inquiry into "how speech would fare"); Fantasy/and Video, 

373 F. Supp. 2d at 1105, 1106 (concurrence addressed level of evidence to 
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support content-neutral regulations, and burden to "cast direct doubt" on 

government's rationale remained "very high"). 

The Ninth Circuit has expressly held that Justice Kennedy's 

comment on the "quantity of speech," and the proportional reduction of 

speech commensurate with a regulation's effects, was never intended as a 

"sea change in this particular corner of First Amendment law" and is 

inconsistent with "the weight of authority in the wake of that decision." 

Ctr. for Fair Pub. Policy v. Maricopa County, 336 F.3d 1153, 1162-1163 

(9th Cir. 2003), cert. denied, 541 U.S. 973 (2004). 

Even more definitive, and flatly rebutting CA WA's suggestion that 

this is an unsettled area of the law, is the holding in Fantasy/and Video, Inc. 

v. County of San Diego, 505 F.3d 996, 1005 (9th Cir. 2007): "We now hold 

that Justice Kennedy's concurrence is also inapplicable to an open-booth 

requirement." In Fantasy/and Video, the Ninth Circuit acknowledged the 

argument that such configuration requirements would make the "forum for 

the speech less attractive" and that the "overall quantity of the protected 

expression must be reduced" but responded that Justice Kennedy's 

"proportionality language was not designed for situations where the 

protected speech and the unprotected conduct merge in the same forum." 

Fantasy/and Video, 505 F.3d at 1005. 
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CAW A cannot dispute the presence of unprotected and unlawful 

conduct, both as a matter of the legislative record and as a matter of the 

City's practical experience with the Hollywood Erotic Boutique. Decision 

at 1, 11. CAW A conceded that the City possessed suitable evidence of that 

conduct in its legislative record as to arcades, mini-theaters, and adult 

theaters. Decision at 12, 19. In a startling passage from the briefing below, 

given this state of the law, CA WA argued that "[t]his Court can and should 

adopt Justice Kennedy's position in Alameda Books." Reply Br. at 18. 

CA WA's reliance on Justice Kennedy's concurrence is misplaced, both as 

to the merits and as a basis for its petition for review. 

2. The economic effect of adult entertainment business 
regulations does not convert a content neutral regulation 
into a prior restraint. 

CA WA's argument that the City's licensing code is an effective ban 

on a form of expression is a veiled attempt to resurrect Justice Kennedy's 

concurrence -- which is now marginalized in federal decisions -- and graft it 

onto Washington law. 

This Court may deny the petition without even the need to re-trace 

the steps of the federal courts. This Court has already considered and 

rejected the initial premise of CA WA. Viewing area configuration 

requirements are certainly constitutional. World Wide Video v. City of

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